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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS: Jon Leibowitz, Chairman
William E. Kovacic 
J. Thomas Rosch 
Edith Ramirez
Julie Brill

                                                                                   
)

In the Matter of   )
) DOCKET NO. C-4310

REVERB COMMUNICATIONS, INC., )
a corporation, and )

)
TRACIE SNITKER, )

individually and )
as an officer and director )
of the corporation. )

                                                                                    )

DECISION AND ORDER

The Federal Trade Commission (“Commission”) having initiated an investigation of
certain acts and practices of the respondents named in the caption hereof, and the respondents
having been furnished thereafter with a copy of a draft complaint that the Bureau of Consumer
Protection proposed to present to the Commission for its consideration and which, if issued by
the Commission, would charge the respondents with violation of the Federal Trade Commission
Act, 15 U.S.C § 45 et seq.; and

The respondents, their attorney, and counsel for the Commission having thereafter
executed an agreement containing a consent order (“consent agreement”), an admission by the
respondents of all the jurisdictional facts set forth in the aforesaid draft complaint, a statement
that the signing of said consent agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute
an admission by the respondents that the law has been violated as alleged in the complaint, or
that the facts as alleged in such complaint, other than jurisdictional facts, are true, and waivers
and other provisions as required by the Commission’s Rules; and 

The Commission having thereafter considered the matter and having determined that it
has reason to believe that the respondents have violated the Federal Trade Commission Act, and
that a complaint should issue stating its charges in that respect, and having thereupon accepted
the executed consent agreement and placed such consent agreement on the public record for a
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period of thirty (30) days, and having duly considered the comments filed thereaf
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C. In communications disseminated through video means (e.g., television or
streaming video), the required disclosures are in writing in a form consistent with
subparagraph (A) of this definition and shall appear on the screen for a duration
sufficient for an ordinary consumer to read and comprehend them, and in the
same language as the predominant language that is used in the communication;

D. In communications made through interactive media, such as the Internet, online
services, and software, the required disclosures are unavoidable and presented in
a form consistent with subparagraph (A) of this definition, in addition to any
audio or video presentation of them; and

E. In all instances, the required disclosures are presented in an understandable
language and syntax, and with nothing contrary to, inconsistent with, or in
mitigation of the disclosures used in any communication of them.

6. The term “including” in this order shall mean “without limitation.”

7. The terms “and” and “or” in this order shall be construed conjunctively or disjunctively
as necessary, to make the applicable phrase or sentence inclusive rather than exclusive.

I.

IT IS ORDERED that respondents, directly or through any corporation, partnership,
subsidiary, division, trade name, or other device, in connection with the manufacturing,
advertising, labeling, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of any product or service,
in or affecting commerce, shall not misrepresent, in any manner, expressly or by implication, the
status of any user or endorser of a product or service, including, but not limited to,
misrepresenting that the user or endorser is an independent user or ordinary consumer of the
product or service. 

 II.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondents, directly or through any corporation,
partnership, subsidiary, division, trade name, or other device, in connection with the
manufacturing, advertising, labeling, promotion, offering for sale, sale, or distribution of any
product or service, in or affecting commerce, shall not make any representation, in any manner,
expressly or by implication, about any user or endorser of such product or service unless they
disclose, clearly and prominently, a material connection, when one exists, between such user or
endorser and the respondents or any other individual or entity manufacturing, advertising,
labeling, promoting, offering for sale, selling, or distributing such product or service.  

III.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondents shall, within seven (7) days of the date of
service of this order, take all reasonable steps to remove any product review or endorsement,
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currently viewable by the public, that does not comply with Parts I and II of this order.

IV.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondents shall, for five (5) years after the last date
of dissemination of any representation covered by this order, maintain and upon reasonable
notice make available to the Federal Trade Commission for inspection and copying, any
documents, whether prepared by or on behalf of respondents, that:

A. Comprise or relate to complaints or inquiries, whether received directly,
indirectly, or through any third party, concerning any endorsement made by
respondents, and any responses to those complaints or inquiries; 

B. Are reasonably necessary to demonstrate full compliance with each provision of
this order, including but not limited to, all documents obtained, created,
generated, or which in any way relate to the requirements, provisions, terms of
this order, and all reports submitted to the Commission pursuant to this order; 

            C.        Contradict, qualify, or call into question respondents’ compliance with this             
                      order; and

D. Are acknowledgments of receipt of this order obtained pursuant to Part V.

V.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondent Reve
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courier (not the U.S. Postal Service) to the Associate Director of Enforcement, Bureau of
Consumer Protection, Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington,
DC 20580, with the subject line In the Matter of Reverb Communications, Inc.  Provided,
however, that, in lieu of overnight courier, notices may be sent by first-class mail, but only if an
electronic version of such notices is contemporaneously sent to the Commission at
DEbrief@ftc.gov.

VII.

            IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondent Tracie Snitker, for a period of five (5)
years after the date of issuance of this order, shall notify the Commission of the discontinuance
of her current business or employment, or of her affiliation with any new business or
employment.  The notice shall include respondent Snitker’s new business address and telephone
number and a description of the nature of the business or employment and her duties and
responsibilities.  Unless otherwise directed by a representative of the Commission, all notices
required by this Part shall be sent by overnight courier
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Provided, further, that if such complaint is dismissed or a federal court rules that respondents did
not violate any provision of the order, and the dismissal or ruling is either not appealed or upheld
on appeal, then the order will terminate according to this Part as though the complaint had never
been filed, except that the order will not terminate between the date such complaint is filed and
the later of the deadline for appealing suce


